N5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 68,365

FILED

RUBEN LAWHORNE,

Petitioner,

vs.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

## ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

## BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit of
Florida
1351 Northwest 12th Street
Miami, Florida 33125

HOWARD K. BLUMBERG Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Petitioner

#

#### INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, Ruben Lawhorne, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the District Court of Appeal. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellee in the District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court. All references are to the defendant's appendix, paginated separately and identified as "A", followed by the page numbers.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

At the defendant's trial, he admitted to six prior convictions in response to questions posed by defense counsel during direct examination (A. 1). Defense counsel then sought to question the defendant further on direct examination about the specifics of those prior convictions, but the trial judge disallowed any such inquiry (A. 1).

On appeal to the District Court of Appeal, Third District, the trial judge's restriction of the questioning of the defendant was upheld, and the defendant's convictions were affirmed (A. 1-5). The majority opinion based its affirmance on the following grounds:

In the present case, the defendant's position might have merit if the testimony sought to be elicited had come after the defendant had been impeached by the state with his prior convictions and defense counsel was seeking to rehabilitate him. The testimony, however, was sought during the direct examination of the defendant. Thus, questions concerning the specifics of the defendant's six prior convictions were both untimely and improper and the trial court correctly sustained the state's objection thereon. See Price v. State, 469 So.2d 210 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). See also Ryan v. State, thereon. 457 So.2d 1084, 1092 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

(A. 2-3) (footnote omitted). The majority opinion then expressly condemned the practice of "anticipatory rehabilitation," quoting with approval from Ryan v. State, 457 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) and Price v. State, 469 So.2d 210 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), review granted Case No. 67,240.

In a specially concurring opinion, Chief Judge Schwartz expressly sanctioned "anticipatory rehabilitation" and recognized

the conflict of decisions created by the majority opinion in this case:

[C]ontrary to Price v. State, 469 So.2d 210 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985) and the majority opinion, I agree with the second district's conclusions in Bell v. State, 473 So.2d 734 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), and Sloan v. State, 472 So.2d 488 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), that there is nothing magical in which admissible about the order impeachment and explanatory evidence introduced at trial.

I think this case should be disposed of on grounds, [1] which would make unnecessary both the majority's erudite discussion on the merits, including the conflict it creates with Bell and Sloan, and the statement of my quite different views.

(A. 4-5).

The defendant's motion for rehearing was denied on January 20, 1986 (A. 6). Notice of invocation of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the District Court of Appeal was filed February 19, 1986.

Chief Judge Schwartz would have upheld the exclusion of the evidence because he felt it was inadmissible either on direct examination or re-direct examination (A. 4-5). He also expressed the opinion that any error on this evidentiary issue was harmless (A. 5).

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

conflict of decisions presently exists in Florida concerning the propriety of "anticipatory rehabilitation". Fourth and Fifth District Courts of Appeal have condemned "anticipatory rehabilitation", see Ryan v. State, 457 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) and Price v. State, 469 So.2d 210 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), review granted, Case No. 67,240, while the Second District Court of Appeal has sanctioned the practice. See Bell v. State, 473 So.2d 734 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), review granted, Case No. 67,434 and Sloan v. State, 472 So.2d 488 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), review granted, Case No. 67,421. By aligning itself with the decisions in Ryan and Price and condemning "anticipatory rehabilitation", the majority opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal in the present case stands in express and direct conflict with the decisions in Bell and Sloan.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT, IN THE INSTANT CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN BELL v. STATE, 473 So.2d 734 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), review granted, Case No. 67,434 and SLOAN v. STATE, 472 So.2d 488 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), review granted, Case No. 67,421.

This Court's jurisdiction to review decisions of district courts of appeal because of alleged conflict is invoked by (1) the announcement of a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced in a district court or Supreme Court decision, or (2) the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same facts as a prior district court or Supreme Court decision. Nielsen v. City of Sarasota, 117 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1960). instant case, the Third District Court of Appeal announced a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced by the Second District Court of Appeal in Bell v. State, 473 So.2d 734 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), review granted, Case No. 67,434 and Sloan v. State, 472 So.2d 488 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), review granted, Case No. 67,421. Accordingly, this Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision in the instant case is warranted.

In the case at bar, the district court held that the trial court did not err in precluding defense counsel from questioning the defendant on direct examination about the specifics of six prior convictions where the defendant had just admitted the convictions during the same direct examination (A. 1-2). A majority of the district court based this holding on the fact

that the questioning occurred during direct examination:

In the present case, the defendant's position might have merit if the testimony sought to be elicited had come after the defendant had been impeached by the state with his prior convictions and defense counsel was seeking to rehabilitate him. The testimony, during the direct however, was sought examination of the defendant. Thus, questions concerning the specifics of the defendant's six prior convictions were both untimely and improper and the trial court correctly sustained the state's objection See Price v. State, 469 So.2d 210 thereto. (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). See also Ryan v. State, 457 So.2d 1084, 1092 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

(A. 2-3) (footnote omitted). In support of this holding, the majority opinion joined in the condemnation of "anticipatory rehabilitation" previously expressed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Ryan v. State, 457 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) and by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Price v. State, 469 So.2d 210 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), review granted, Case No. 67,240:

"Anticipatory rehabilitation" not only "scrambles the orderly procedure laid out by the Florida Rules of Evidence," Ryan, So.2d at 1092, but it also secures 457 admission of testimony that otherwise might not be permitted to be placed before the Ιn reversing a trial court for jury. state permitting the to anticipatorily rehabilitate a state witness concerning a prior inconsistent statement, the court in Price explained:

> The State "anticipates" impeachment of its own witness by the defense at the State's peril because the option is always with the defense to impeach or not. The defense often quite reasonably does impeach a particular witness because the defense knows that the evidence that the State is entitled to present on rehabilitation of its witness will be much more harmful to the defense than any benefit derived from an impeachment of that

witness. In addition, in such circumstances the State is always vulnerable to the assertion by the defense counsel that he was going to forego impeachment.

469 So.2d at 211-12.

(A. 3).

The Second District Court of Appeal, in express and direct conflict with the decisions in <u>Price</u> and <u>Ryan</u>, <sup>2</sup> has sanctioned "anticipatory rehabilitation" in <u>Bell v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, 473 So.2d at 735:

Our research discloses no definitive precedent upon which we sanction the trial technique followed by the prosecutor in this case. It does appear, however, that the Fourth District, in dictum, has condemned anticipatory rehabilitation upon the grounds that it not only "scramble[s] the orderly procedure laid out by the Florida Rules of Evidence, but it robs the defense counsel of an important strategic tool used in cross-examination, that of impeachment of a witness through the use of prior inconsistent statements." Ryan v. State, 457 So.2d 1084, 1092 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). We do not subscribe to our sister court's view.

and in Sloan v. State, supra, 472 So.2d at 490:

Finally, we reject the contention that the trial court erred in permitting the state to question one of the co-perpetrators, Grant, in connection with his prior inconsistent testimony. It is evident from the record that the state was not seeking to impeach Grant, but rather to bolster his credibility by revealing his earlier inconsistent statements. In Bell v. State, So.2d, Case No. 84-1616 (Fla. 2d DCA June 7, 1985), we sanctioned that form of trial strategy, and

Based on this conflict of decisions, this Court has granted review in <u>Bell</u> (Case No. 67,434), <u>Price</u> (Case No. 67,240) and <u>Sloan</u> (Case No. 67,421). Oral arguments in <u>Bell</u> and <u>Price</u> are scheduled for April 8, 1986.

found it not offensive to section 90.608, Florida Statutes.

By condemning anticipatory rehabilitation based on the decisions in Ryan and Price, the district court of appeal in the present case has announced a rule of law which expressly and directly conflicts with the rule announced by the Second District Court of Appeal in Bell and Sloan. The specially concurring opinion of Chief Judge Schwartz in this case expressly recognizes this conflict:

[C]ontrary to Price v. State, 469 So.2d 210 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985) and the majority opinion, I agree with the second district's conclusions in Bell v. State, 473 So.2d 734 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), and Sloan v. State, 472 So.2d 488 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), that there is nothing magical about the order in which admissible impeachment and explanatory evidence is introduced at trial.

I think this case should be disposed of on grounds, [3] which would make unnecessary both the majority's erudite discussion on the merits, including the conflict it creates with Bell and Sloan, and the statement of my quite different views.

(A. 4-5). This Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction is necessary to remedy the conflict of decisions created by the majority opinion in this case.

<sup>3</sup> 

## CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, authorities and arguments, petitioner requests this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal.