IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 68,365

.

RUBEN LAWHORNE,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MAR

Phiat Doput Clark

CLERK,

By

RANDI KLAYMAN LAZARUS

Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Ruth Bryan Owen Rohde Building Florida Regional Service Center 401 N.W. 2nd AVenue (Suite 820) Miami, Florida 33128

(305) 377-5441

TABLE OF CONTENDS

.

.

TABLE OF CITATIONS	ii
INTRODUCTION	1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS	1
POINT ON APPEAL	2
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT	3
ARGUMENT	4
CONCLUSION	7
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE	7

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal. Respondent was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal. The parties will be referred to as they appear before this court. The symbol "A" will be used to represent the Appendix contained in Petitioner's brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Respondent would accept the Statement of the Case and of the Facts contained in Petitioner's brief as an accurate account of the proceedings below.

POINT ON APPEAL

.

WHETHER THE PETITIONER HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE AN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CON-FLICT OF DECISIONS TO WARRANT THE IN-VOCATION OF THIS COURT'S DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The instant case involves the question of whether a defendant may be asked on direct examination about the specifics of six prior convictions where he had just admitted the convictions in response to questions posed by defense counsel during the same examination. The specifics about which he sought to inquire were that in the prior cases the defendant pled guilty, because he was guilty and pled not guilty in this case, because he was not guilty.

Petitioner urges this court to find conflict with <u>Bell</u> <u>v. State</u>, 473 So.2d 734 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), <u>review granted</u>, Case No. 67,434, and <u>Sloan v. State</u>, 472 So.2d 488 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), <u>review granted</u> Case No. 67, 421. Those cases are distinguishable on their facts for two reasons. First, <u>Bell</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Sloan</u>, <u>supra</u> involve anticipatory rehabilitation regarding a prior inconsistent statement, rather than questions regarding prior convictions. Second, the inquiry herein is inadmissible under any circumstance; whereas in <u>Bell</u>, <u>supra</u>, and Sloan, supra, the inquiry was admissible.

-3-

ARGUMENT

THE PETITIONER HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE AN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT OF DE-CISIONS TO WARRANT THE INVOCATION OF THIS COURT'S DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION.

Where a cause is before this Honorable Court because of an apparent conflict, jurisdiction will not be accepted, where the cause is distinguishable on its facts. <u>Department of</u> <u>Revenue v. Johnson</u>, 442 So.2d 950 (Fla. 1983). Petitioner argues that the case <u>sub judice</u> directly and expressly conflicts with <u>Bell v. State</u>, 473 So.2d 734 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), <u>review</u> <u>granted</u>, Case No. 67, 434 and <u>Sloan v. State</u>, 472 So.2d 488 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), <u>review granted</u> Case No. 67,421. Respondent would assert, however, that this case is distinguishable on its facts.

<u>Bell</u>, <u>supra</u> and <u>Sloan</u>, <u>supra</u> dealt with the issue of whether a witness on direct examination, who is questioned about a prior inconsistant statement may then be asked to explain why such a statement was made. In the instant case defense counsel asked the defendant on direct examination whether he had prior convictions. Counsel then sought on direct examination to have the defendant explain the fact that in his prior cases he had plead guilty, because he was guilty; and in the instant case he plead not guilty, because

-4-

he was not guilty. Such a factual distinction is sufficient to have this court refuse to find an express and direct conflict.

Petitioner claims that the real issue is whether the inquiry sought herein is the same type of anticipatory rehabilitation approved in <u>Bell</u>, <u>supra</u> and <u>Sloan</u>, <u>supra</u>. That assumption, however, is erroneous. The answer urged not only constituted improper bolstering, but as Chief Judge Schwartz pointed out was inadmissible.

> But Lawhorne's proffer did not involve any of these appropriate reasons. He sought to show only that each of his multiple previous convictions was entered on a plea of guilty; thus, it would appear, seeking to raise the implication that, because he had admitted guilt in the past, he must not be guilty of the present charges which he specifically contested and denied on the stand. I am aware of no authority which would permit the admission of such testimony upon this bizarre theory. To the extent that it can be categorized at all within accepted evidentiary principles, the prior pleas would seem to involve an attempt to bolster one's credibility by showing that he had told the truth on some previous specific Such evidence is of course occasions. plainly inadmissible. See §90.404-405, 90.609-610, Fla.Stat. (1983). Thus, I would uphold the exclusion of the evidence not because of when it was offered, but because of what it contained.

1. The admission of such testimony would open the door to endless collateral evidence as to all the underlying circumstances--the proposed pleabargain, the evidence against the defendant, and the like which led to the guilty pleas in the previous cases and the trial in the instant one respectively. But see §90.403 Fla.Stat. (1983).

(A. 5-6).

In <u>Sloan</u>, <u>supra</u> and <u>Bell</u>, <u>supra</u>, the answer sought, regarding a prior inconsistent statement would have unquestionably been admissible under any circumstance.

There being no express and direct conflict, jurisdiction of this cause should not be accepted.

CONSLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, respondent requests this court to deny petitioner's application for discretionary review.

Respectfully submitted,

JIM SMITH Attorney General

Janara1 lound RANDI KLAYMAN /LÁZARUS

Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue (Suite 820) Miami, Florida 33128 (305) 377-5441